
annual report 2012/13



2



annual report 2012 - 13 3

annual report of the ingonyama trust board - financial 
year ending 31 march 2013



4



annual report 2012 - 13 5

Contents

Part 1: General InformatIon          6

acting Chairperson’s Statement          7

Chief Executive Officer’s Statement          9

about the Ingonyama trust Board          11

the Board             12

about the Secretariat            13

Strategic Plan and Performance          17

Performance report 2012 - 2013          17

legal matters             18

Internal Control Environment           19

report of the audit Committee           20

Part 2: annual fInanCIal StatementS         21

Statement of Board’s responsibility          21

auditor-General’s report           23

response  of the Board to aspects of the audit report        25

Ingonyama Trust Board - Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013                      26

Ingonyama Trust Board - Statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2013                    27

Ingonyama trust Board - Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 31 march 2013                28

Ingonyama Trust Board - Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2013           29

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013             30 - 49

trust fund Detailed Statement of financial Performance and Budget for the year ended 31 march 2013           50

transfer payment - Detailed Statement of financial Performance and Budget for the year ended 31 march 2013     51

Consolidated Detailed Statement of financial Performance for the year ended  31 march 2013                  52



6

Objective

Our Vision

Our Mission

Trust Land Map

Optimal land management for the material benefit and social wellbeing of the communities living on Ingonyama Trust Land

A leader in sustainable communal land management

To contribute to the improvement of the quality of life of the members of the traditional 
communities living on Ingonyama Trust Land by ensuring that land management is to their benefit and in accordance with the 

laws of the land.

Part 1: General InformatIon
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acting Chairperson’s Statement

Towards the end of 2012, Ingonyama Trust Board officially 
opened its Headquarters offices in Pietermaritzburg at 
number 65 Trelawney Road on 9 November 2012. To His 
Majesty the King, the Board Members, the Staff and Amakhosi 
this was a dream come true. This was one great event after 
another. An earlier event was the launch of Ingonyama 
Rural Development Forum which took place in May 2012. 

Why should one regard these events as landmarks? The 
answer is simple. Ingonyama Trust is a very unique entity 
in the whole world. It is a property owning trust, managed 
by a professional Board with the King as its Chairman, for 
the benefit of the communities. The land is allocated by the 
Traditional Councils in terms of indigenous law and culture. 
Therefore it is very important that an institution like this 
should have sufficient space from which to operate. There 
are many reasons for this. Let me deal with one or two. 

Most practises of indigenous law and culture are not written. 
Hence, it is difficult to understand from the onset as an outsider 
how the system works. For this reason the existence of the 
Board to administer land at a higher level makes a compelling 
case for researchers and academics to constantly observe 
the workings of this institution. But even generally while 
indigenous law and culture is recognised by the Constitution 
of the country and governs relations among the majority 
of the population of this country many still do not have full 
appreciation of its application. Especially in land matters.

While at the end of the day, the preferred tenure issued by the 
Board is a leasehold, this is a simplification of a complex process 
which in essence contains a myriad of rights. People who live 
according to indigenous law and custom know that their rights 
are not adequately described in the leasehold as theirs is 
more than this. Hence, a leasehold agreement   is a convenient 
description of part of the content of their rights. There is a lot that 
a lease agreement does not cover. Their association with land 
of which they are beneficiaries, is permanent and perpetual. 

As such to them Ingonyama Trust Board is not a landlord. 
It could not be rationally explained how an entity which 
came into existence just the other day can be the owner 
of land which most of the beneficiaries predate its 
existence. The fact that they have no documents to prove 
their rights is not good enough to deny their existence. 

Previous successive government administrations retained the 
land which is the subject of ownership by Ingonyama Trust 
in a communal set up for a variety of reasons. These were 
mostly political and I do not intend dealing with them here. 
What is important though is the subtle acknowledgement that 
communal land ownership consists of more than land ownership.

The layers of rights embedded in communal land which 
Ingonyama Trust Board is entrusted to oversee consist among 
others of the rights to land, as well as social and economic rights. 
These rights are intertwined and cannot be easily discerned.

“The layers of rights 
embedded in communal 
land which Ingonyama 

Trust Board is entrusted 
to oversee consist among 

others of the rights to 
land, as well as social and 

economic rights.”
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In a way indigenous layers of rights   in the absence of clear 
recordal are suppressed and hidden. The Board is like an outside 
world which is there to protect them in the language and manner 
that can be interpreted in the context of our common law. 

The Board must, moving forward, seek to document and clarify 
the entire content of these communal rights which each holder 
has on land. Hopefully once this is done a correct description of 
the nature of the instrument which encapsulates these rights will 
be properly described or given an appropriate term. In order to 
undertake this, the Board needs resources and space. Hence the 
significance of having new and bigger office space. It is this space 
that has now been acquired. The work is thus about to begin. 

One might ask what other work is done in the ITB 
offices. There is a lot, but let me confine myself to one. 
Most title deeds have conditions. Likewise most things, 
properties apart from cadastral description, have names. 
Some of these names are offensive and derogatory. Some of the 
conditions are likewise offensive and racially discriminatory. It 
is not unusual to come across for instance a condition of title 
which reads “this piece of land shall not be owned by a native”. 

While in terms of our current law conditions like this are 
unthinkable and unconstitutional, they do not remove 
themselves automatically from the title deeds if they were once 
there. Therefore as part of aligning issues and in particular land 
matters to a new constitutional order, our staff also attend to the 
removal of these outdated conditions and names on title deeds.  

I am not aware of any institution which has made it 
its business to focus on the issues the ITB is focusing 
on. No doubt its birth will remain forever an area of 
controversy, but that is not what preoccupies the Board. 
What I intended to drive home here is that in 2014 Ingonyama 
Trust will be twenty years old. The lessons learnt from its 
operation, (especially from the time the Board came into 
existence in 1998, after the Act was substantially amended and 
effectively rewritten) are worth capturing for generations to come.

The proposed legislation on land reform has isolated 
communal land and deem it appropriate to deal with it 
separately. One is inclined to agree with this view. We 
believe that there are many lessons to be learnt from the 
experience of Ingonyama Trust. That experience needs to be 
factored in when the communal land law is ultimately passed.

We as a Board would not have moved this far alone. It is 
therefore very important that we extend our gratitude to all the 
communities living on this land we are asked to contribute in 
its administration, Amakhosi and their Councils, the Minister of 
Rural Development and Land Reform, our Executive Authority 
and his staff, members of the Portfolio Committee on Rural 
Development and Land Reform, the entire ITB staff, various 
Municipalities in the Province as well as various Provincial 
Government Departments. Without your co-operation, our 
existence stand to suffer. We are as always for ever grateful 
for the sterling leadership from His Majesty, the King. Bayede!

 

Justice Mr S J Ngwenya 
acting Chairperson

Ingonyama Trust Board Secretariat staff during a photo-shoot with His Majesty the King on the Official Opening of the New 
Administration Block of the Ingonyama Trust Board.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

The Financial year 2012/13 witnessed the second phase of 
the construction of the Ingonyama Trust Board Offices. The 
first phase was the completion and the restoration of the Old 
Building which is a National Heritage Monument. The second 
phase saw the completion of the Administrative Building 
where the Secretariat now operates from. The availability 
of the bigger office space have indeed assisted the Board 
and the Secretariat to increase its output in operations. 
The additional office space meant that more staff could be 
accommodated, visitors and clients all come with easy to the 
offices without hassles of parking and other inconveniences.

The Financial year 2012/13 further witnessed an increase in 
residential applications for tenure rights. Again this being an 
encouragement that more and more people residing on land 
under the jurisdiction of Ingonyama Trust Board are seeing the 
value of secure tenure rights in the form of leasehold. A total of 
1611 applications for land tenure rights were received during 
the 2012/2013 financial year and 859 was approved. This 
amounts to an increase of 652 applications from the 2011/2012 
financial year. The increase in applications can be attributed 
to the employment of additional staff on contract basis. 

The Board continued to play a pivotal role in its contribution 
towards the provision of housing in the Province of 
KwaZulu-Natal. The Board approved the release of land 
parcels to the extent of 172 903.194 hectares for Human 
Settlement Projects during the financial year. A total of 29 
Development Rights Agreements were concluded for rural 

housing projects on Ingonyama Trust Board land. This will 
translate into the building of 27 100 in-situ low income 
subsidized houses on the land under Ingonyama Trust Board. 
This is a major step in providing the needy communities 
in the Province, particularly, those living in rural areas.

The Board also continued with its commitment to improve 
the lives of communities living on land under Ingonyama 
Trust Board through financial support. Communities were 
supported in their garden projects through the provision 
of materials, tools of trade for the Development Trusts 
and bursaries for students who come from the identified 
communities. There were two hundred and fifty students 
who received bursaries during the 2012/13 financial year. 
There was a substantial increase in the moneys distributed to 
the communities as part of the Boards’ disbursement policy.

On the aspects of formalisation the Boards’ view is that it 
is catalyst in the provision of services and infrastructure, 
particularly to rural communities. This is to be achieved 
through land audits that will lead to orderly planning and 
settlements, and therefore there is no need for illegal 
occupations that will be costly to address in the long term.

The scarcity of land in formalized urban environment has 
resulted in a shift of focus to the land under the jurisdiction of the 
Ingonyama Trust Board. Hence issues pertaining to formalization 
and infrastructural development are high on the Boards’ agenda. 
This is a challenge that the Secretariat has to be prepared for in 

“Communities were 
supported in their garden 

projects through the 
provision of materials, 

tools of trade for the 
Development Trusts and 

bursaries for students who 
come from the identified 

communities.”
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terms of handling more complex requests for tenure rights and 
shortening the turn-around times for delivery. Coupled with 
this is a demand to amend the Ingonyama Trust Act (Act No.3 
of 1994) as amended so that the Board could play a pivotal 
role in matters pertaining to development as a land owner.
The challenge of inadequate staff was identified during the 
year. Hence, an undertaking to review the staff establishment 
for the Secretariat began during the year. The process is still 
underway and hopefully it will be finalized in the next financial 
year. Currently, the organogram of the organisation consists of 
twenty seven employees, there are twenty three filled positions, 
four vacancies and eleven employees on contract basis. This is 
inadequate when one has to consider the extent of land that 
the Ingonyama Trust Board is responsible for in the Province.

During the year the Secretariat was engaged in stakeholders 
liaison with various government institutions, most notable the 
KwaZulu-Natal Department of Public Works and the National 
Department of Public Works to ensure effective delivery of 
state facilities and infrastructure to communities outside the 
former proclaimed towns. To this end, the Board has considered 
and approved the release of land for purposes of providing 
support as per the Government Programme of Action such as 
police stations, clinics and health facilities.

Lastly, on behalf of the Secretariat I would like to express 
our gratitude to the Board and all our stakeholders 
who supported us during the 2012/13 financial year.

mr n n Bhebhe
Chief Executive Officer

Sakhisizwe Cultural group performing during the opening of the Ingonyama Trust Board’s New Administration Block Official 
Opening in November 2012.
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about the Ingonyama trust Board
BaCKGrounD

The Ingonyama Trust was established in 1994 by the KwaZulu 
Ingonyama Trust Act, (Act No 3 of 1994) to hold the land in 
title for “the benefit, material welfare and social well-being 
of the members of the tribes and communities” living on the 
land. The Act was subsequently amended by the KwaZulu 
- Natal Ingonyama Trust Amendment Act No 9 of 1997. 
The land held by the Trust is about 2,8 million hectares in 
extent spread throughout the Province of KwaZulu - Natal.

His Majesty the King is the sole trustee. The Amendment Act 
provided among other things the establishment of Ingonyama 
Trust Board to administer the affairs of the Trust and the Trust land.
The Board has eight members and Isilo who is the 
Chairperson of the Board. In terms of the Act he has 
power to nominate another person to act on his behalf. 

the BoarD

The Board consists of the following members:

His Majesty the King (Chairperson)
Hon Mr. Justice S.J. Ngwenya
Advocate W.E.R Raubenheimer
Dr. T. Mbatha
Pastor N. Zitha  
Inkosi K.W. Mathaba 
Ms J.T. Bhengu 
Mr. B.L. Shabalala 
Advocate V.Z. Mngwengwe

During the year under review the Board performed among 
others the following duties:

>> Considering budget for the Board and its expenditure 
and making a recommendation to the Secretariat and 
the Board;

>> Provided strategic leadership to the Secretariat of the 
Board;

>> Monitored the operational performance of the 
Secretariat of the Board;

>> Ensured that resources of the Board were effectively 
and efficiently used;

>> Ensured that the Board and the Secretariat complied 
with the relevant legislative frameworks;

>> Ensuring effective and efficient use of resources of the 
Board.

The Board held 12 meetings to deal with the affairs of the 
Trust. The Board is supported by a Secretariat to execute its 
mandate.

BoarD CommItteeS

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee assisted the Board in carrying out its 
Accounting Authority responsibilities in terms of its Financial 
Regulations, Treasury Regulations and the King III Report on 
Corporate Governance to the extent it is applicable to the 
Board. Refer to the Audit Committee’s report on page 20.

Executive Committee

During the period under review the Executive Committee 
executed the following functions:

>> Advised and made recommendations to the Board to 
give effect to the aims and purposes of the Trust;

>> Considered issues relating to tenure rights under its 
delegated powers and these included the approvals 
for granting of leases for various developments and 
servitudes on Ingonyama land;

>> Did an oversight on the use of trust resources.

During the year under review the Executive Committee held 
16 meetings to perform its responsibilities. Nine (9) of these 
meetings were held to consider applications for tenure 
rights from the Municipalities and Government Departments 
for various developments such as housing, state domestic 
facilities (clinics, schools, police stations etc.) and servitudes 
(water pipelines, electricity pylons, rural access roads) and 
other infrastructural developments aimed at improving the 
lives of the communities.

Bid Adjudication Committee 

During the period under review the Bid Adjudication Committee 
executed the following functions:

>> Ensured that procurement is fair, equitable, transparent, 
competitive and cost-effective in accordance with the 
Supply Chain Management Policies and the PFMA.
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 BoarD memBer BoarD eXCo

no of meetInGS meetInGS 
attenDeD

no of meetInGS meetInGS 
attenDeD

JUDGE S.J. NGWENYA 12 12 16 13

ADV W.E.R. RAUBENHEIMER 12 12 16 16

DR T. MBATHA 12 8 16 11

MS J. BHENGU 12 7 16 6

PASTOR N. ZITHA 12 10 16 16

MR B.L. SHABALALA 12 8 16 9

INKOSI K.W. MATHABA 12 12 16 15

ADV V.Z. MNGWENGWE 12 7 16 0

The Board members remuneration rates are in accordance with Treasury Regulations as approved by the Minister of Finance. 

the Board

Justice S J Ngwenya Adv W E R Raubenheimer

Mr B L ShabalalaMs J Bhengu

Dr T MbathaAdv V Z MngwengwePastor N Zitha

His Majesty the King

Inkosi K W Mathaba

BoarD meetInGS DurInG 2012/2013 fInanCIal year
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about the Secretariat
offICe of the heaD of SeCretarIat

The objectives of the office of the Head of Secretariat is to 
manage the affairs of the organisation. It has the following 
business units.

real eState manaGement

This business unit’s main task is to provide the following; 
property management, land tenure administration and 
valuation services.

Applications for Land Tenure Rights

A total of 1611 applications for land tenure rights were 
received and processed during the 2012/2013 financial year. 
This amounts to an increase of 652 applications from the 
2011/2012 financial year. A total of 829 leases were concluded 
during the year under review. The leases are short term (2-3 
years), medium terms (5 years to 9 years 11months) or long 
terms (40 years).

A total of 29 Development Rights Agreements were concluded 
for rural housing projects on Ingonyama Trust land. A total extent 
of 172 903.194 hectares was reserved for Human Settlement 
Projects during this financial year. With a total number of 27 
100 units to be built on land under Ingonyama Trust.

Land Holdings

During the 2012/2013 period under review, the Trust received 
ownership of 23 properties through formal title in extent 
of 17 445 hectares of land from the Department of Rural 
Development and Land Reform. The status of most of these 
properties that were transferred is fully occupied by traditional 
communities.

A comprehensive register accounting for all the title deeds and 
the encumbrances registered against the deeds is maintained 
by the Real Estate Unit and an updated register is published 
quarterly.

The register accounts for the Title Deeds is held in securities and 
managed to ensure the necessary governance is maintained at 
the highest level. 

A detail list of the properties registered in the Ingonyama Trust 
Board assets register is listed below:

>> Remainder of Lot 5, Qudeni No 10859 in extent 
20.9551 ha;

>> The Farm Ebenezer No. 3784 in extent 40.4686 ha;

>> Remainder of Lot 10 Thlogosi No. 5117 in extent 
189.4890 ha;

>> Ptn 195 Klippoort no. 1162 in extent 684.3240 ha;

>> Ptn 6 of Uitval No.1244 in extent 364.3059 ha;

>> Rem of Lot 7 Qudeni No. 11061 in extent 382.7455 
ha;

>>  Rem of Ptn 16 & 17 Klip River Location No. 4665 pro-
posed consolidation farm Qamu No. 17486 in extent 
575.4183 ha;

>> Ptn 1 of Baviaan Trap No.6000 in extent 380.7663 ha;

>> Ptn 1 of Asyn Kraal No. 1158 in extent 1728.3423 ha;

>> Tom Fynn’s Location No. 4865 in extent 2891.2121 
ha;

>> Ehlanzeni Mission Reserve No.7444 in extent 
4450.8377 ha;

>> Ptn 46 of Uitval No. 1244 in extent 110.5029 ha;

>> Langold No. 9427 in extent 141.6705 ha;

>> Southgate No. 9428 in extent 128.5130 ha;

>> Frankland No. 9598 in extent 717.0379 ha;

>> The farm Kromellenboog No.45 in extent 636.7456 
ha;

>> Portion of Uitvaal No.1244 in extent 256.0810 ha;

>> Portion 5 of Uitvaal No.1244 in extent 220.8910 ha;

>> Portion 6 of Reserve 16 No. 15836 in extent 7.7087 
ha;

>> Portion 64 (of 13) of Reserve 14 No. 15384 in extent 
-43.7095 ha;

Applications for Infrastructure Development

Forty three applications were received for infrastructure 
development. The Board provided consent to enable the 
applicants to bring about development on Ingonyama Trust 
land.

In the main the applications were for State Infrastructure 
that included water reticulation schemes, road infrastructure 
including bridges in affected communities and State Domestic 
Facilities such as clinics.

Land Tenure Information System

The Ingonyama Trust Board has a unique Geographic Information 
System known as the LTIS (Land Tenure Information System). 
The LTIS geospatially maps and records all ownership data, 
tenure rights data, servitudes and Traditional Council areas of 
jurisdiction. The mapping is to ensure that all land tenure rights 
applications are subjected to rigorous due diligence processes 
prior to Board consideration. The mapping and spatial database 
allows for the land holdings of the Ingonyama Trust Board to be 
effectively managed.

The Ingonyama Trust Board during period under review 
approved the LTIS system being made available for the public 
through its website. The information is to encourage developers 
and investors or any other person to view information on the 
land holdings. During the period under review the LTIS staff 
members mapped and prepared 1 912 sketches which define 
the land being leased to the applicants.
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Staff members responsible for surveys, inspections and land 
management coordinated daily site inspections, GPS surveys, 
land management and control of the 2.8 million hectares of 
land. The team responds to on-site inspections and reports on 
challenges and concerns regarding the physical development 
and protection of the land. 

Number of land management related projects identified and 
implemented (started or initiated)

During the 2012/13 financial year the Board approved financial 
support to the following projects:

>> An agricultural project in Mbatha Traditional Council 
under Zululand Local House where the Board provided 
the required fencing material to enable the community 
to be able to plant theirs crops throughout the 
seasons;

>> An agricultural project in an area under Obizo 
Traditional Council in Uthungulu District Municipality, 
was identified and the Board approved the 
appointment of an agricultural specialist to assist the 
community in the planning and preparations for this 
implementation of this project;

>> Under special projects a study was conducted at 
Emafezeni area, this area was targeted as a result 
of unlawful allocation of the land by an individual 
purporting to represent the Board. In order to 
consider the appropriate nature of the development 
and settlement of the area, a report was prepared to 
make recommendations on how this matter should be 
handled. The report made it clear that the nature of the 
site, its topography and location and the proposal were 
not viable and it was very unlikely to be considered as 
area with development potential. The Board is looking 
at alternative land to offer the victims of the fraudulent 
sales. However, suitable land in the surrounding area is 
already heavily populated. The area is part of D’MOSS as 
determined by the eThekwini Metro’s IDP;

>> Land audits continued at Jozini and Manguzi Local 
Municipalities. The primary purpose being to, identify 
the types of tenure rights that residents have within 
the project areas, to formalize the tenure rights through 
leases and to create a conducive environment for 
developments and to support the Traditional Councils 
and the Local Municipalities in the establishment of 
orderly planning.

General aDmInIStratIon

The objectives of the General Administration business unit is 
to provide an administrative support service to the Board and 
the Secretariat. 

During the year under review this business unit performed the 
following tasks:

>> Provided general administration support;

>> Maintained and updated the organisation  website on a 
regular basis;

>> Provided management and supervision of staff and 
service providers;

>> Managed Supply Chain Management and Human 
Resource matters.

fInanCIal aDmInIStratIon

The objectives of the Financial Administration business unit 
are to manage the Accounting and Finances of the Trust. 

The major tasks performed by this business unit during the 
year under review were as follows:

>> Developed and maintained an integrated accounting 
and financial management system with proper internal 
controls that comply with audit requirements;

>> Developed and implemented policies and procedures;

>> Managed assets and liabilities;

>> Prepared the financial aspects of the strategic plans 
and budgets;

>> Co-ordinated and managed external and internal audit 
reports;

>> Provided an oversight and reviewed all financial 
activities;

>> Administered and managed the day to day book-
keeping functions of the Trust.



annual report 2012 - 13 15

human reSourCeS

During the year under review the Board increased substantially the staff complement to reflect the increased nature and size of 
its operations.

emPloyment anD vaCanCIeS In InGonyama truSt BoarD

ComPonent emPloyment anD vaCanCIeS aS 
Per orGanoGram

aDDItIonal to the 
orGanoGram

total no. PoStS

No of 
Posts

Filled Vacant

OFFICE OF THE CEO *03 *03 0 03 06

FINANCIAL 
ADMINISTRATION

04 04 0 01 05

ADMINISTRATION 
SERVICES

07 04 03 03 10

REAL ESTATE *13 *12 01 06 19

GranD total 27 23 04 13 41

* The post of a Legal Admin Officer was transferred from Real Estate to the Office of the CEO

emPloyment anD vaCanCIeS By Salary BanDS aS Per orGanoGram

Salary BanDS no. of 
PoStS

no. of fIlleD 
PoStS

no. of vaCant 
PoStS

no. of 
aDDItIonal 

PoStS

total 
PoStS

Lower Skilled (level 1 - 2) 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled (level 3 - 5) 04 02 02 0 04

Highly Skilled production (level 6 - 8) 15 14 1 10 25

Highly Skilled supervision (level 9 - 12) 07 06 0 04 10

Senior Management (level 13) 01 01 0 0 01

GranD total 27 23 03 14 40

emPloyment eQuIty aS at 31 marCh 2013

oCCuPatIonal levelS male female

a C I W total a C I W total

Top Management 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Senior / Middle Management 3 0 3 1 7 2 0 0 1 3

Junior Management 6 0 2 1 9 12 2 0 0 14

Semi - Skilled and Discretionary  Decision Making 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled and defined decision making 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GranD total 13 0 5 2 20 14 2 0 1 17

traInInG neeDS/SKIllS DeveloPment

male 
a

male 
C

male 
I

male 
W

female 
a

female 
C

female 
I

female 
W

total

Lower Skilled (level 1 - 2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled (level 3 - 5) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Highly Skilled production (level 6 - 8) 5 0 2 0 17 1 0 0 25

Highly Skilled supervision (level 9 - 12) 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 4

Senior Management (level 13) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

leGenD to the taBleS   
a = afrICan C = ColoureD I = InDIan W = WhIte
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Communications
The Board is conscious of the need to make the Government 
Institutions and Traditional Communities more aware of its 
activities and has performed the following activities to ensure 
that it delivers on quality information to its clients.

>> Appointed a Media Specialist to ensure that there 
is adequate coordination of communication to all 
relevant stakeholders;

>> Revitalised the Corporate Identity of the organisation 
to its original format;

>> Conducted roadshows and capacity building of 
Traditional Councils.

Policies and Procedures

During the year the Board approved the following documents:

>> Strategic Planning review;

>> Operational Plan.

Ongoing review of operational policies

The Board continued to review its policies in the light of 
changing circumstances and new legislation.

Constraints

With the increase in staff complement and the completion of 
the new Head Quarters for ITB, more will be done to achieve 
ITB goals. The main challenge that remains is to be able to 
efficiently and effectively serve our clients at closer point. 

This can best be addressed by decentralising the Offices of the 
ITB preferably in accordance to the District Municipalities. The 
Board intends to open two such satellite offices in the near 
future.

future outlook

In the coming financial year the Board intends to focus on the 
following key aspects.

>> Land Audits;

>> Partnership in Development Projects by assisting 
communities living on ITB land to package business/
development projects.

The town of Jozini is rapidly growing, Ingonyama Trust Board recently conducted land audit to determine the land holding 
status of this town and how such land rights are held.
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In accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) the Board had a Strategic Plan for 
the year 2012/2013. 

StrateGIC 
oBJeCtIveS

PerformanCe meaSure 
InDICator

auDIteD/aCtual PerformanCe eStImateD meDIum term tarGet

2010/11 2011/12 2012/2013 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

1 To administer 
Ingonyama 
Trust Land

Number of tenure rights 
concluded

New 
indicator

1031 859 2003 2731 3000

Land Holding Register 
maintained on a 
quarterly basis

New 
indicator

4 4 4 4 4

Number of planned land 
management projects 

New 
indicator

4 5 6 7 8

2 Provision of 
support to 
Traditional 
Communities

Number of Traditional 
Councils empowered 
in land management 
matters

5 New 
indicator

26 33 45 48

3 Improve 
stakeholder 
relations and 
liaison

Number of stakeholder 
forums coordinated

New 
indicator

New 
indicator

New 
indicator

2 3 4

4 Ensure 
Corporate 
Governance 
and Service 
Excellence

HRM Strategy developed New 
indicator

New 
indicator

New 
indicator

HRM 
Strategy 

Developed

HRM 
Strategy 
Imple-

mented

HRM 
Strategy 

Reviewed

% of suppliers paid 
within 30 days of receipt 
of undisputed invoices

New 
indicator

New 
indicator

New 
indicator

100% 100% 100%

Strategic Plan and Performance

Performance report 2012 - 2013
StrateGIC 

oBJeCtIveS
PerformanCe meaSure 

InDICator
tarGet 

2012/2013
aCtual 

2012/2013
varIanCe

To administer Ingonyama Trust Land Number of tenure rights concluded 1031 859 - 172

Land Holding Register maintained on a 
quarterly basis

4 4 -

Number of planned land management 
projects

4 5 + 1

Provision of support to Traditional 
Communities

Number of Traditional Councils 
empowered in land management matters

23 26 + 3

Number of traditional councils empowered in land management matters

Capacity building to the Traditional Councils was conducted as stated hereunder:

traInInG ConDuCteD StaKeholDerS total

On the establishment of development Trusts Traditional Councils 18

Land Management Matters Traditional Council and Local House 26

Roles and Functions of development Trust Traditional Council 10
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legal matters

Ingonyama Trust Board dealt with various legal matters from 
providing legal support, instituting and defending litigation on 
behalf of the Board.

etheKWInI rateS CaSe

EThekwini Municipality applied to the High Court of KwaZulu 
Natal, Durban for an order declaring Ingonyama Trust land 
within its area of jurisdiction to be rateable from 29th May 1996 
(the commencement of Proclamation 80/1996) to 2nd October 
1998 when the KwaZulu Natal Ingonyama Trust Amendment 
Act No. 9 of 1997 became operational. 

Further, the application was that the land was rateable from 
the commencement date of Act No.9 of 1997, aforementioned, 
until 2nd July 2005 when the Local Government: Municipal 
Property Rates Act 6 of 2004 became operational. The Durban 
High Court granted this order. 

Ingonyama Trust Board appealed the decision at the Supreme 
Court of Appeal and declared that the Ingonyama Trust land 
was state land held for the benefit of inhabitants of an area in 
the jurisdiction of the local authority (eThekwini), and as such 
was exempt from being rated in terms of section 3 (3) (a) of the 
Rating of State Property Act, 79 of 1984. 

EThekwini Metro  thereafter applied for leave to appeal and 
condonation for the late application at the Constitutional Court 
of South Africa on 12 February 2013, alleging inter alia that the 
matter was a constitutional one as it affected section 239 of 
the Constitution of South Africa which defines the term “state” 
or “organ of state”. Also it was the allegation that it affects its 
functions as a local government, which is to collect rates, which 
is a function in its view is derived from the Constitution. 

Judgement in the matter with respect to both applications 
as well as the costs was handed down by the Constitutional 
Court on 28 March 2012. The Applications were dismissed and 
eThekwini Municipality was ordered to pay the costs from the 
inception of the court proceedings (i.e. from the High Court of 
KwaZulu Natal, Durban through to the Constitutional Court).

The essence of the judgment was that Ingonyama Trust is 
exempt from the payment of Municipal Rates for the period 
starting in May 1996 and ending in 01 July 2005, on the basis 
that the property of the Trust is state property held in trust for 
the inhabitants in the area of jurisdiction of a Local Authority. 
This exemption is in terms of section 3(3) (a) of the Rating of 
State Property Act 79 of 1984.

The Court further found that for the period commencing from 2 
July 2005 to 2 July 2011, a Municipality could use an existing 
valuation roll and rating policy, assuming that the Local 
Authorities Ordinance 25 of 1974 (the Ordinance) applied to 
ITB land. However rates must be levied within the financial year 
in respect of which they are charged, not retrospectively. The 
rates must be based on the value of property in each financial 
year as it appears on the valuation roll and the owner must be 
given the opportunity to dispute the value placed on the land.

Should a municipality not have complied with the Local 
Government: Municipal Property Rates Act 6 of 2004 (the MPRA) 
after 2 July 2011 by having a new valuation roll and rates policy 
in place in terms of the MPRA, then such municipality would 
not have been able to rate any property owner (including the 
Ingonyama Trust), on the strength of the Ordinance. It should 
also be noted that the procedures for levying rates in the 
Ordinance are slightly different from the MPRA.
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frauD PreventIon StrateGy

The Board approved a Fraud Prevention Plan designed to identify fraud and related risks.

Internal auDIt

During the year 2012/2013 the internal audit function was carried out by Thabani Zulu and Company, who undertook the 
following reviews:

>> Asset management;

>> Control environment and Governance;

>> Land Use;

>> Disbursement of Funds.

The Board attended to any shortcomings identified as a result of these processes.

rISK manaGement

The Board has implemented an updated Risk Management Strategy.

Internal Control environment
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We are pleased to present our report for the year ended 31 March 2013.

auDIt CommIttee memBerS anD attenDanCe

The Audit Committee consists of three members listed hereunder. The Committee should meet not less than four times per 
annum as prescribed in the audit charter.

During the current year five meetings were held as follows.

memBer numBer of meetInGS

Professor B. S Stobie 5

Ms N. E Memka 2

Mr A Jordan 4

auDIt CommIttee reSPonSIBIlIty

The Audit Committee report that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1) (a) of the PFMA and Treasury 
Regulations.

The  Audit Committee also report that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its audit committee charter and 
has discharged its responsibilities in terms of this charter.

The Audit Committee has liaised with both internal and external auditors and reviewed their plans and findings to ensure that the 
internal controls are as effective as possible and appropriate to the organization.

The King III Report on Corporate Governance has been implemented to the extent it is applicable to the organisation and both 
internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

The financial policies have been reviewed and the Audit Committee is satisfied with the effective functioning of the internal 
control system. A risk management process has been undertaken and has been evaluated by the auditors as a basis for their audit 
approach.

Various recommendations have been made to the Board arising from reviews of its operations and reports from the internal 
auditors. As a result the Board has formalised many policies this year and is currently considering more of these policies for 
adoption.

evaluatIon of fInanCIal StatementS

The Audit Committee has:

>> Reviewed the Auditor- General’s management letter and management’s response thereto;

>> Reviewed changes in accounting policies and practice; and

>> Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accept the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial statements, and is of the 
opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General.

B.S Stobie
Chairperson
31 July 2013

report of the audit Committee
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Statement of BoarD’S reSPonSIBIlIty

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the preparation and integrity of the financial 
statements and related information. The auditors are responsible for reporting on the fair presentation of the financial statements. 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice Standards.  
    
The Board is also responsible for the Trust’s system of internal financial control. These are designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability 
of the assets, and prevent and detect misstatements and loss.  Nothing has come to the attention of the Board to indicate any 
material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems during the year under review. 
     
The financial statements set out on page 27 to 53 were approved by the Board members on the 29 May 2013 and signed on its 
behalf by the Acting Chairperson of the Board.      

General InformatIon        

Members of the Ingonyama Trust Board as at 31 March 2013 :                
                 
His Majesty the King ( chairperson )                
Hon. Mr Justice S.J. Ngwenya                 
Adv. W.E.R. Raubenheimer                
Ms J.T.J. Bhengu                
Mr B.L. Shabalala                
Pastor N.B Zitha                 
Dr M.Mbatha                
Inkosi K.W Mathaba                
Adv. V.Z Mngwengwe                

auDItorS                
                

Auditor - General                
               

BanKerS               
               

First National Bank - a division of FirstRand Bank  Ltd             
Nedbank Ltd                
Absa Bank Ltd                
Investec Bank Limited                
Standard Bank of South Africa Ltd                

                 
reGIStereD offICe                

                
65 Trelawney Road 
Pietermaritzburg     
3201    

P.O. Box 601             
Pietermaritzburg     
3200    

Tel:  033 846 9900
Fax: 033 386 2528

Part 2: annual fInanCIal StatementS
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InGonyama truSt BoarD

approval of annual financial Statements

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 were approved by the Board on 29 May 2013.

Sipho Jerome Ngwenya
acting Chairperson
(Royal Nominee in terms of the Ingonyama Trust Act 3 KZ of 1994)

His Majesty the King congratulating Justice Ngwenya on a job well done during the official opening of the Ingonyma Trust 
Board’s New Administration Building.



annual report 2012 - 13 23

rePort on the fInanCIal StatementS

Introduction 

1. I have audited the financial statements of the Ingonyama 
Trust Board set out on pages 26 to 49, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013, the 
statement of financial performance, statement of changes in 
net assets and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, 
and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial 
statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with South African Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South 
Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal 
control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of  financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility 

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in 
accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 
(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general notice issued in terms 
thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the trust’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the trust’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified audit 
opinion.

Basis for qualified opinion (Property, plant and equipment)

6. SA Standards of GRAP, GRAP 17, Property, plant and 
equipment requires that where assets are acquired at nil or 
nominal consideration, these assets shall be recognised at fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. As disclosed  in note 21 to the 
financial statements, land has not been valued and is disclosed 
according to the extent held. I was not able to determine the 
correct value of land as it was impracticable to do so.

Royalty revenue

7. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
about royalty revenue received, as internal controls were not 
established over the collection thereof. I was unable to confirm 
whether all royalty revenue was recorded by alternative means. 
Consequently I was unable to determine whether any 
adjustments to royalty revenue stated at R710 000 (2012:R7,38 
million) in the financial statements and the corresponding 
effect on accounts receivable were necessary.

Provisions

8. During 2012 I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate 
evidence about a trust disbursement of R13,50 million for the 
purchase of shares for four traditional councils. I was unable to 
confirm the disbursement by alternative means. Consequently, 
I was unable to determine whether any adjustment to the 
provisions stated at R174,69 million in note 29 to the financial 
statements was necessary. My audit opinion on the financial 
statements for the year ended 2012 was modified accordingly. 
My opinion on the current period’s financial statements is also 
modified because of the possible effect of this matter on the 
comparability of the current period’s figures.

Qualified opinion

9. In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters 
described in the Basis for qualified opinion paragraphs, the 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Ingonyama Trust Board as at 31 March 
2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended, in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the 
requirements of the PFMA.

report of the auditor - General to parliament on the 

Ingonyama trust Board
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Emphasis of matter 

10. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

Significant uncertainty

11. As disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, a 
contingent liability of R33,32 million has been provided for 
in respect of an amount claimed by a municipality in respect 
of outstanding rates on Ingonyama Trust land. The trust has 
disputed this claim. The ultimate outcome of the matter cannot 
presently be determined and no provision for any liability that 
may result has been made in the financial statements.

Additional matters

2. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not 
modified in respect of these matters.

Unaudited supplementary schedules

The supplementary information set out on pages 50 to 52 does 
not form part of the financial statements and is presented as 
additional information. I have not audited these schedules and, 
accordingly, I do not express an opinion thereon.

rePort on other leGal anD reGulatory reQuIrementS

12. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I report the following findings relevant to 
performance against predetermined objectives, compliance 
with laws and regulations and internal control, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives

13. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the 
usefulness and reliability of the information in the annual 
performance report as set out on pages 17 of the annual 
report. 

14. The reported performance against predetermined 
objectives was evaluated against the overall criteria of 
usefulness and reliability. The usefulness of information in the 
annual performance report relates to whether it is presented 
in accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting 
principles and whether the reported performance is consistent 
with the planned objectives. 

The usefulness of information further relates to whether 
indicators and targets are measurable (i.e. well defined, 
verifiable, specific, measurable and time bound) and relevant 
as required by the National Treasury Framework for managing 
programme performance information.

The reliability of the information in respect of the selected 
programmes  is assessed to determine whether it adequately 
reflects the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and complete).

15. There were no material findings on the annual performance 
report concerning the usefulness and reliability of the 
information.

Compliance with laws and regulations

16. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the trust 
has complied with applicable laws and regulations regarding 
financial matters, financial management and other related 
matters. My findings on material non-compliance with specific 
matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set out in the 
general notice issued in terms of the PAA are as follows:

Budgets 

17. The trust accumulated surpluses without the approval 
of National Treasury, in contravention of section 53(3) of the 
PFMA.

Expenditure management

18. Management did not exercise oversight over the funds 
disbursed to Traditional Councils to ensure compliance with 
the operational policies of the Trust, as required by section 
51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA.

Asset management

19. Proper control systems to safeguard and maintain 
immovable assets were not implemented, as required by 
section 51(1)(c) of the PFMA.

Revenue management

20. The accounting authority did not take effective and 
appropriate steps to collect all royalty revenue due, as required 
by section 51(1)(b)(i) of the PFMA.
Internal control 

21. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of 
the financial statements, annual performance report and 
compliance with laws and regulations. The matters reported 
below under the fundamentals of internal control are limited 
to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the basis for the 
qualified opinion and the findings on compliance with laws and 
regulations included in this report. 

Leadership

22. Management has not developed and implemented 
appropriate policies, procedures and processes to value the 
immovable assets of the Trust and address the completeness 
of revenue.

23. Management did not exercise oversight over compliance 
with laws and regulations applicable to the Trust and 
compliance with the Trust’s policies regarding disbursement of 
funds to Traditional Councils.

Pietermaritzburg
31 July 2013
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Non - valuation of land

The Auditor General’s comment regarding this matter is noted.
The Board is aware if its accounting responsibilities and has not 
intentionally defied the application of the relevant Accounting 
Standard.

The enormous cost of determining a land valuation for 
approximately 2,8 Million hectares is by far compelling the 
Board to utilise its already committed  financial resources on 
this issue  which has  no material benefit to its communities.
The expenditure to be incurred is not in line with the Ingonyama 
Trust Act’s objective of being in existence for the material 
benefit and social well – being of communities.

Our view is that funds can be put to better use than spent on 
valuing land for no tangible benefit.

It is common knowledge that Land values continuously 
change because of market forces and demands and a once - 
off valuation exercise if undertaken will eventually give rise to 
fruitless expenditure because of the change in continuous land 
values.

The Trust will investigate other non- expensive avenues if any 
to value its  land. 

Incompletenes of Royalty Revenue

We note the concerns raised by the Auditor General regarding 
this matter.

The Auditor General is raising the issue about the potential 
income that may have been received and not income which has 
been received and banked, hence the completeness of income.
Effective controls means that the Ingonyama Trust must 
monitor each ton of mineral extracted at each site to verify the 
completeness of income.

This is simply not practical due to the limited number of  
Ingonyama Trust Board staff and the cost implication thereof.
Despite several attempts, we were unsuccessful in obtaining 
the audit certificates from   mining operators.

It is important to note that for monies received by the Trust, 
proper controls and procedures for recording and receipting 
are in place  which the Auditor General has evidenced.

Provisions - Purchase of  Shares

We advise that this was a once-off transaction that occurred in 
the previous year.

Four beneficiary communities were financially assisted by the  
Ingonyama Trust  to purchase equity  in Maweni Consortium, (a 
BEE partner in Zululand Anthracite Colliery) , which  in effect is 
a 13%  shareholding in Zululand Anthracite Colliery.
We hereby clarify in response to the Auditor General’s 
comments that the Trust was unable to provide adequate 
supporting documents in support of the purchase and price of 
the shares.

The Trust did in fact present the Auditor General with a valid 
signed Purchase and Sale agreement reflecting the purchase 
price agreed by the parties. No further amount was paid for the 
purchase of these shares, which was made once - off in 
July 2011.

A share certificate in the name of the oKhukhu Community Trust 
provided adequate  evidence of ownership in the name  of the 
four communities’ holding shares  in Maweni Consortium.

An important point to note is that by acquiring these shares, 
income will still accrue to the communities in the form of 
dividends as royalty income which the mining operator 
previously paid to the ITB for Community purposes is now 
payable to the State.

The acquiring of shares also enables the communities to 
participate at a much higher level in a mining company that 
mines the most expensive mineral resource from within their 
land.

We emphasise that the effective equity value of shares in 
Zululand Anthracite Colliery far exceed the initial   cost of  
shares. The Communities can only benefit from an increase in 
equity .

Ingonyama trust Board

response  of the Board to aspects of the audit report
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2013 2012

r r

assets notes

non - current assets 40,865,818 29,673,945

Property, Plant and Equipment 3 & 22 40,661,638 29,330,170

Intangible Assets 4 & 23 204,180 334,249

Deferred finance charge asset 11.2 & 24 - 9,526

Current assets 257,306,869 230,093,301

Receivables 25 85,220,901 54,900,048

Cash and cash equivalents 26 172,085,968 175,193,253

total assets 298,172,687 259,767,246

liabilities

Non - Current Finance lease liability 27 - 22,878

Current liabilities 187,943,045 160,954,421

Payables 28 13,249,013 10,688,896

Provisions 29 174,694,032 150,265,525

total liabilities 187,943,045 160,977,299

net assets 110,229,642 98,789,947

net aSSetS

Accumulated surplus 110,229,642 98,789,947

total net assets 110,229,642 98,789,947

Ingonyama trust Board
Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013
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2013 2012

r r

revenue notes

rental revenue 41,658,375 22,964,333

Permissions to Occupy (Commercial) 9,696 9,696

Leases (includes straight lining income) 11 &  37 41,648,679 22,954,637

royalty revenue 6.2.2. 710,884 2,366,953

other revenue 18,929,712 13,051,946

Transfer Payment - Department of Rural Development & Land 
Reform 

7  18,816,000 13,034,000

Rates due from lessee and tender document fees 11,962 17,946

Servitude 101,750 -

finance Income 8,765,527 9,623,048

Interest on Bank and Short term investments 6.3.1 8,681,249 9,590,712

Interest on overdue debtors accounts 84,278 32,336

total revenue 70,064,498 48,006,280

expenditure (58,624,803)  (45,984,743)

Trust Fund - Administration and disbursements (39,846,961)  (33,437,248)

Expenses funded from Transfer Payment funding  (18,777,842) (12,547,495)

Surplus for the year 11,439,695 2,021,537

Ingonyama trust Board
Statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2013



28

accumulated Surplus

                       r

Opening balance : 01.04.2011 96,816,693

Decrease in rates income from lessee prior to 01.04.2011  (482,831)

Decrease in 90 % provision due to decrease in rates income from lessee prior to 01.04.2011 434,548

Restated surplus for the year 2,021,537

Surplus previously reported 2,286,139

(264,602)

Decrease in 90 % provision to benefici aries due to decrease in lease income 162,634

Decrease in straight lining income due to reduction in lease income (126,985)

Decrease in royalty income due to credit notes  (3,002,510)

Decrease in 90 % provision to beneficiaries due to decrease in royalty income 2,702,259

Balance: 01.04.2012 98,789,947

Surplus for the year 11,439,695

Balance : 31.03.2013 110,229,642

Ingonyama trust Board
Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 31 march 2013
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2013 2012

r r

Cash flows from operating activities notes

receipts 43,205,341 37,240,554

Services  15,347,608 14,600,883

Transfer payments 18,816,000  13,034,000

Interest Received 9,041,733  9,605,671

Payments (33,273,963) (34,381,105)

Suppliers (23,224,630)   (25,777,253)

Interest Paid - Finance Lease  (9,526) (11,509)

Employee costs  (10,039,807) (8,592,343)

Net cash flows from operating activities 41. (A)  9,931,378 2,859,449

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of plant and e quipment including construction costs 41.(B) (13,118,663) (13,340,361)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 6.3.1  80,000 -

Net cash flows from investing activities  (13,038,663) (13,340,361)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,107,285)  (10,480,912)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 175,193,253 185,674,165

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 41.(C) 172,085,968 175,193,253

Ingonyama trust Board
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Ingonyama trust Board
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013

Summary of SIGnIfICant aCCountInG PolICIeS  
  
1.1. Basis of Preparation 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with effective Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), including any interpretations and 
directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 
       
1.2. Changes in accounting policy and comparability 
       
Accounting Policies have been consistently applied, except 
where otherwise indicated below:

The Trust changes an accounting policy only if the change:

>> is required by a Standard of  GRAP; or

>> results in the financial statements providing reliable 
and more relevant information about the effects 
of transactions, other events or conditions on the 
performance or cash flow.

1.3. Critical judgements, estimations and assumptions

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations, that the management have made in the 
process of applying the Trust’s Accounting Policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
Annual Financial Statements:

1.3.1. Revenue Recognition

Accounting Policy 6.2 on Revenue from Exchange Transactions 
and Accounting Policy 6.3 on Revenue from Non-exchange 
Transactions describes the conditions under which revenue 
will be recorded by the management of the Trust.

In making their judgement, the management considered the 
detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue as set out in 
GRAP 9: Revenue from Exchange Transactions: Revenue, as far 
as Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions is concerned (see 
Basis of Preparation above). In particular, whether the Trust, 
when goods are sold, had transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and when services 
are rendered, whether the service has been rendered.  The 
management of the Trust is satisfied that recognition of the 
revenue in the current year is appropriate.

1.3.2. Financial assets and liabilities

The classification of financial assets and liabilities into 
categories is based on judgement by management.
   
1.3.3. Impairment of Financial Assets

Accounting Policy 8.2.2 on Impairment of Financial Assets 
describes the process followed to determine the value by which 
financial assets should be impaired.  In making the estimation 
of the impairment, the management of the Trust considered 
the detailed criteria of impairment of financial assets as set 

out in GRAP 104: Financial Instruments - Recognition and 
Measurement.  The management of the Trust is satisfied that 
the impairment of financial assets recorded during the year, is 
appropriate.

1.3.4. Useful lives of Property, Plant and Equipment (“PPE”)

As described in Accounting Policies on depreciation, the Trust 
depreciates/amortises its property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, taking into account the residual 
values of the assets at the end of their useful lives, which is 
determined when the assets are available for use. The useful 
lives and residual values of the assets are based on industry 
knowledge.

1.3.5. Impairment: Write down of PPE and Inventories

Significant estimates and judgements are made relating to 
PPE impairment tests and write down of inventories to net 
realisable values.

1.4. Going concern assumption     
  
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.   

1.5. Offsetting

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have not been offset, 
except when offsetting is required or permitted by a Standard 
of GRAP.

1.6. Presentation of Budget information in Financial 
Statements 

The budget and the financial statements is prepared and 
approved on the accrual basis. The approved budget covers the 
fiscal period from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013 and is solely 
for the Ingonyama Trust Board.

The presentation of budget information will be on the additional 
column approach in terms of GRAP 24.The comparative 
disclosure is not required in terms of this disclosure.

2. Presentation Currency
The Annual financial statements are presented in South African 
Rand, rounded off to the nearest rand which is the Trust’s 
functional currency.     
 
3. Property, Plant and Equipment 
3.1. Initial Recognition

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
that are held for use for administrative purposes, and are 
expected to be used during more than one year including a 
finance leased asset.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if it is probable that future 
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economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
item will flow to the Trust, and if the cost or fair value of the 
item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost 
on its acquisition date or in the case of assets acquired by grant 
or donation, deemed cost, being the fair value of the asset on 
initial recognition.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by the Trust.
Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the 
cost. The cost, where applicable, also includes the necessary 
costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the 
site on which it is located.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of property, plant and 
equipment. Where an asset is acquired by the Trust for no or 
nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the 
cost is deemed to be equal to the fair value of that asset on the 
date acquired.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment acquired 
in exchange for  non-monetary assets or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets is measured 
at its fair value.  If the acquired item could not be measured at 
its fair value, its cost is measured at the carrying amount of the 
asset given up.

3.2. Subsequent Measurement

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and 
equipment is capitalised if it is probable that future economic 
benefits or potential service delivery associated with the 
subsequent expenditure will flow to the entity and the cost 
or fair value of the subsequent expenditure can be reliably 
measured. Subsequent expenditure incurred on an asset is only 
capitalised when it increases the capacity or future economic 
benefits associated with the asset. 
 
Subsequently all property plant and equipment, are 
measured at cost (which includes deemed cost for previously 
unrecognised assets), less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The Trust recognises Property, 
plant and equipment according to the cost model.
   
3.3. Depreciation 

Land is not depreciated as it is regarded as having an indefinite 
life. Depreciation on assets other than land is calculated on 
cost, using the straight line method, to allocate their cost to 
their residual values over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets. The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in 
which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential 
are expected to be consumed by the Trust.  
Components of assets that are significant in relation to the 

whole asset and that have different useful lives, are depreciated 
separately. The depreciation rates are based on the following 
estimated useful lives.
Depreciation only commences when the asset is available for 
use, unless stated otherwise.
Plant and Equipment are stated at historical cost and adjusted 
after taking into account residual values, impairment of assets 
and depreciation.  
       
The cost of each asset is depreciated to its estimated residual 
value on the straight line basis over their useful lives after 
taking into account residual values as follows:    
 
Buildings  - 25 years
Motor vehicles  - 5 years      
Computer equipment - 4 years    
Furniture & equipment - 6 years 
Park home offices - 15 years 
Finance leased asset - 5 years    
  
Expenditure on major improvements and additions to tangible 
plant and equipment is capitalised based on the measure of 
work completed.

The depreciation charge is based on the componentisation 
approach where appropriate. 
  
Where the assets are the same, or the cost component is 
not significant as a proportion of total cost, assets are not 
componentisised. Building used for office accommodation has 
been depreciated from date of beneficial occupation and use.

3.4. De-recognition of property, plant and equipment

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is de-recognised on disposal, or when no future 
economic benefits or service potential are expected from its 
use or disposal.
The gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is de-recognised. Gains are not included in 
revenue.

3.5. Impairment of Non-Cash generating assets

The Trust assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such indication 
exists, the Trust estimates the recoverable service amount of 
the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 
recoverable service amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable service 
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable service amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is 
determined.

The recoverable service amount of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use.
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If the recoverable service amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to 
its recoverable service amount. That reduction is an impairment 
loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in 
surplus or deficit.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units 
if the recoverable service amount of the unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the unit. The impairment loss is allocated to 
reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit as follows:

>> to the assets of the unit, pro- rata on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The Trust assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods 
for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable service amounts of 
those assets are estimated. 
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a 
reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in surplus or deficit.

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

4.1. Initial Recognition

Identifiable non–monetary assets without physical substance 
which are held for use in the production or supply of services, 
for rental to others, or for administrative purposes are classified 
and recognised as intangible assets. The Trust recognises an 
intangible asset in its Statement of Financial Position only 
when it is probable that the expected future economic benefits 
or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow 
to the Trust and the cost or fair value of the asset can be 
measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are subject to strict 
recognition criteria before they are capitlised. Research 
expenditure is recognised as an expense when incurred.
Other development expenditures that do not meet these 
criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Development costs previously recognised as an expense are 
not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised 
development costs are recorded as intangible assets and 
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use 
on a straight-line basis over its useful life, not exceeding three 
years. Development assets are tested for impairment annually, 
in accordance with GRAP 31.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Intangible 
assets acquired separately or internally generated are reported 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Where an intangible asset is acquired at no 
cost or for a nominal consideration, its cost is its fair value as at 
the date it is acquired. 

Where an intangible asset is acquired in exchange for a 
non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a combination of 
monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is 
initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s 
fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is the carrying 
amount of the asset(s) given up.

4.2. Subsequent Measurement, Amortisation and Impairment

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the 
intangible assets’ useful lives, which does not exceed three 
years including but not restricted to computer software and 
website design.  Where intangible assets are deemed to have an 
indefinite useful life, such intangible assets are not amortised.
 
Intangible assets are annually tested for impairment, including 
intangible assets not yet available for use. Where items of 
intangible assets have been impaired, the carrying value is 
adjusted by the impairment loss, which is recognised as an 
expense in the period that the impairment is identified except 
where the impairment reverses a previous revaluation. 

The impairment loss is the difference between the carrying 
amount and the recoverable amount.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed 
annually. Any adjustments arising from the annual review are 
applied prospectively as a change in accounting estimate in 
the Statement of Financial Performance.

4.3. De-recognition

Intangible assets are de-recognised when the asset is disposed 
of or when there are no further economic benefits or service 
potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an intangible asset 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying value and is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance.      
    
5. Investment Property

5.1. Initial Recognition

Investment property includes property held to earn rentals 
and/or for capital appreciation.
At initial recognition, the Trust measures investment property at 
cost including transaction costs once it meets the definition of 
investment property. However, where an investment property 
was acquired through a non-exchange transaction (i.e. where it 
acquired the investment property for no or a nominal value), its 
cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Ingonyama trust Board
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5.2. Property (land holdings) - other than office 
accommodation     
    
Properties registered in the name of the Trust are recognised as 
assets of the Trust.   
     
The cost of property, however has not been disclosed as it was 
not acquired at a price, but vested in the Trust in terms of the 
Ingonyama Trust Act.     
The fair value of Trust property has not been disclosed in the 
financial statements. This departure from GRAP 17 is due to the 
fact that the cost of valuing the land will exceed the benefits 
derived from such a valuation.     

6.  revenue recognition

6.1. General

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary 
course of the Trust’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax, returns, rebates and discounts.

The Trust recognises revenue when the amount of revenue 
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the Trust and when specific criteria 
have been met for each of the Trust’s activities as described 
below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably 
measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have 
been resolved. The Trust bases its estimates on historical 
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type 
of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue that 
accrued to the Trust directly in return for services rendered / 
goods sold, the value of which approximates the consideration 
received or receivable.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions refers to transactions 
where the Trust received revenue from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange. Revenue 
from non-exchange transactions is generally recognised to 
the extent that the related receipt or receivable qualifies for 
recognition as an asset and there is no liability to repay the 
amount.

Revenue from Exchange transactions comprises of Leases, 
Royalties, Permissions to Occupy and Other income/
(servitudes).

Revenue from Non- Exchange transactions comprises of 
Interest income and Transfer payments. 

6.2. revenue from exchange transactions
       
6.2.1 Leases       
      
Revenue from the rental of land as operating leases is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease 

agreement, where such lease periods span over more than 
one financial year. The Trust leases its land for commercial and 
non-commercial purposes. This revenue relates to non-mining 
revenue.      
 
The straight lining of leases has increased the reported revenue 
for lease income. The difference between the straight lining 
and normal charge has been disclosed in note 37.  
 
The Trust has not entered into any new finance lease 
agreements. 
   
6.2.2. Royalty Revenue       
   
The Trust leases its land to mining and prospecting operators. 
Royalty revenue is recognised when affidavits are received 
from mining operators.   
  
6.2.3. Permissions to Occupy (PTO’S)    
      
In September 1998, the then Minister of Land Affairs gave a 
delegation to the MEC for Traditional and Local Government 
in Kwazulu- Natal to issue PTO’s in respect of residential, 
agricultural and commercial sites on Ingonyama Trust Land 
where the extent of land was less than five hectares or the 
proposed development value was less than R 500 000.00. 
   
Permissions to Occupy  were  recognised when issued by the 
Department of Local Government and Traditional Affairs. This 
income is based on tariffs set in terms of the Kwazulu Land 
Affairs Act 11 of 1992.

The issuing of new PTO’s ceased from 1 April 2007.

6.2.4.  Other income 
       
This refers to all other income not classified above including 
servitude compensation.   
      
6.3. revenue from non-exchange transactions   
      
6.3.1 Finance Income      
   
Interest is earned from funds invested with banks over a short 
term at fixed interest rates and on current accounts.  
     
Interest on investments is recognised on the accrual basis 
and capitalised to investments on maturity on the time 
proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield 
on the investment.     
     
7. Government Grants /( Transfer Payments and Receipts) 
Income received from conditional grants, donations and 
funding are recognised as revenue to the extent that the Trust 
has complied with any of the criteria, conditions or obligations 
embodied in the agreement.  To the extent that the criteria, 
conditions or obligations have not been met, a liability is 
recognised. 
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Government grants that are receivable as compensation for 
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Trust with no future related 
costs, are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance 
in the period in which they become receivable.

Interest earned on investments is treated in accordance with 
grant conditions.  If it is payable to the funder it is recorded 
as part of the creditor and if it is the Trust’s interest it is 
recognised as interest earned in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 

8. financial Instruments

The Trust has various types of financial instruments and 
these can be broadly categorised as either Financial Assets or 
Financial Liabilities.

8.1. Financial Assets - Classification

A financial asset is any asset consisting of cash or a contractual 
right to receive cash.  The Trust has the following types of 
financial assets as reflected on the face of the Statement of 
Financial Position or in the notes thereto:  

>> Investments in Fixed Deposits; 

>> Consumer Debtors;

>> Certain Other Debtors;

>> Short-term Investment Deposits;

>> Bank Balances and Cash.

In accordance with GRAP 104, the Financial Assets of the Trust 
are classified as follows into the four categories allowed by this 
standard:

type of financial asset Classification in terms of 
GRAP 104

Short-term Investment 
Deposits – Call

Held-to-maturity 
investments

Bank Balances and Cash Available for sale 
investments

Consumer Debtors Loans and receivables

Other Debtors Loans and receivables

Investments in Fixed 
Deposits 

Held-to-maturity 
investments

    

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial 
assets that meet either of the following conditions:

>> they are classified as held for trading; or

>> upon initial recognition they are designated as at fair 
value through the Statement of Financial Performance.

Available for sale investments are financial assets that are 
designated as available for sale or are not classified as: 
 

>> Loans and Receivables;

>> Held-to-Maturity Investments; or

>> Financial Assets at fair value through the Statement of 
Financial Performance.

Loans and Receivables are non derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets, except for 
maturities greater than 12 months, which are classified as non-
current assets.  Loans and receivables are recognised initially 
at cost which represents fair value.  After initial recognition 
Financial Assets are measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method less a provision for impairment.

Held-to-Maturity Investments are financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturity where the Trust 
has the positive intent and ability to hold the investment to 
maturity.

Cash includes cash on hand (including petty cash) and cash 
with banks (including call deposits). Cash equivalents are 
short-term highly liquid investments, readily convertible 
into known amounts of cash that are held with registered 
banking institutions with maturities of three months or less 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with 
banks, net of bank overdrafts. The Trust categorises cash and 
cash equivalents as financial assets: loans and receivables.

8.2. Financial Liabilities - Classification

A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash 
or another financial asset to another entity.  The Trust has the 
following types of financial liabilities as reflected on the face 
of the Statement of Financial Position or in the notes thereto:

>> Certain Other Creditors 

>> Finance lease liability.

Any other financial liabilities are classified as “Other financial 
liabilities” and are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs.  Other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

In accordance with GRAP 104 the Financial Liabilities of the 
Trust are all classified as “Other financial liabilities”.

8.2.1. Initial and Subsequent Measurement

8.2.1.1. Financial Assets

Held-to-maturity Investments and Loans and Receivables are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
asset. Subsequently, these assets are measured at amortised 
cost using the Effective Interest Method less any impairment, 
with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.
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Financial Assets at Fair Value and Available-for-Sale are initially 
and subsequently, at the end of each financial year, measured 
at fair value with the profit or loss being recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

8.2.1.2. Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value are initially and subsequently 
measured at fair value. Other financial liabilities are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

8.2.2. Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or 
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance 
sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is 
objective evidence of impairment of Financial Assets (such as 
the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor).  If there is such evidence the recoverable 
amount is estimated and an impairment loss is recognised in 
accordance with GRAP 104.

Initially Accounts Receivable are valued at fair value and 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  An estimate is made for doubtful debt 
based on past default experience of all outstanding amounts 
at year-end.  Bad debts are written off the year in which they 
are identified as irrecoverable.  Amounts receivable within 12 
months from the date of reporting are classified as current.

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that the Trust will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of receivables.  The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount  
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Consumer Debtors are stated at cost less a provision for bad 
debts.  The provision is made in accordance with IAS 39.64 
whereby the recoverability of Consumer Debtors is assessed 
individually and then collectively after grouping the assets 
in financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics.  
Government accounts are not provided for as such accounts 
and are regarded as receivable.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by 
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When 
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance.

With the exception of Available-for-Sale equity instruments, 
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 
the Statement of Financial Performance to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment 
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

8.2.3. De-recognition of Financial Assets

The Trust de-recognises Financial Assets only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity, except 
when the Trust approves the write-off of Financial Assets due 
to non recoverability.

If the Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Trust recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay.  If the Trust retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Trust 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

8.2.4. De-recognition of Financial Liabilities

The Trust de-recognises Financial Liabilities when, and only 
when, the Trust’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 
expire. 

8.3. Risks associated with financial instruments 

It is the policy of the Trust to disclose information that enables 
the user of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and 
extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the 
Trust is exposed on the reporting date.
   
8.3.1. Market risk   
   
The fair value of investments are not affected by market forces 
as the investment rates are fixed at the investment date over a 
short term.  
   
The future cash flows from trade and other receivables will not 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices as the amounts 
owing are already determined and fixed
at year end and therefore do not expose a risk to the 
Trust. 

8.3.2. Credit risk   
   
The Trust’s trade debtors arise from the leasing of land for 
mining and non-mining purposes. Applicants are usually 
screened before lease applications are approved. Debt 
collection procedures exist for the collection of outstanding 
payments. 
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8.3.3. Liquidity risk   
   
Liquidity risk is managed by ensuring that all assets are 
reinvested at maturity at  competitive interest rates in relation 
to cash flow requirements. Liabilities are managed by ensuring 
that all contractual payments are met on a timeous basis and, 
if required, additional new arrangements are established at 
competitive rates to ensure that cash flow requirements are 
met.

The Trust has sufficient funds to service its financial liabilities. 
Vat and trade payables have been settled after year end. 
   
8.3.4. Currency risk    
   
The Trust does not have any transaction that requires funds to 
be translated to  a foreign currency therefore no currency risk 
exists. 
   
8.3.5. Interest rate risk   

Interest rate risk originates from the uncertainty about the 
fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument which 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Trust does not have any interest rate risk as investments 
are fixed at an agreed rate over the term of the investment.
  
9. Provisions       
       
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or 
service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

Future events that may affect the amount required to settle 
an obligation are reflected in the amount of a provision where 
there is sufficient objective evidence that they will occur. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. The 
present obligation under an onerous contract is recognised 
and measured as a provision.

Provisions are reviewed at reporting date and the amount of 
a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected 
to be required to settle the obligation. When the effect 
of discounting is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows that reflect current 
market assessments of the time value of money.  The impact 
of the periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Performance as a finance cost as it 
occurs.

10. Employee benefits

10.1. Remuneration and Leave pay

Remuneration to employees is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance as the services are rendered, except for 
non-accumulating benefits, which are only recognised when 
the specific event occurs.

The Trust treats its provision for leave pay as an accrual.
The costs of all short-term employee benefits such as leave 
pay, are recognised during the period in which the employee 
renders the related service. The liability for leave pay is based 
on the total accrued leave days at year end and is shown as 
a creditor in the Statement of Financial Position.  The Trust 
recognises the expected cost of performance bonuses only 
when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
make such payment and a reliable estimate can be made.

10.2. Contributions to a defined Provident fund contribution 
plan

The Trust and its employees have contributed to the Momentum 
Umbrella Funds at Work provident fund from 1 February 2011.
The fund is a defined Contribution plan. The contributions 
are expensed and included in the amount reported for under 
Secretariat administration fees in the detailed statement of 
financial  performance.

10.3. Contributions to a medical aid scheme

The Trust and its employees contribute to a medical aid scheme. 
The contributions are expensed and included in the amount 
reported under Secretariat administration fees in the detailed 
statement of financial performance.

11. leases

11.1. The Trust as a Lessee

Leases are classified as finance leases where substantially all 
the risks and rewards associated with ownership of an asset 
are transferred to the Trust.  Property, plant and equipment 
or Intangible Assets subject to finance lease agreements are 
capitalised at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased 
asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. 

Corresponding liabilities are included in the Statement of 
Financial Position as Finance Lease Liabilities. The corresponding 
liabilities are initially recognised at the inception of the lease 
and are measured as the sum of the minimum lease payments 
due in terms of the lease agreement, discounted for the effect 
of interest. In discounting the lease payments, the Trust uses 
the interest rate that exactly discounts the lease payments 
and unguaranteed residual value to the fair value of the asset 
plus any direct costs incurred. Lease payments are allocated 
between the lease finance cost and the capital repayment 
using the effective interest rate method.  Lease finance costs 
are expensed when incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the leased assets are 
accounted for in accordance with the stated accounting policies 
applicable to property, plant, equipment or intangible assets. 
The lease liability is reduced by the lease payments, which 
are allocated between the lease finance cost and the capital 
repayment using the effective interest rate method. Lease 
finance costs are expensed when incurred. The accounting 
policies relating to de-recognition of financial instruments are 
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applied to lease payables. The lease asset is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life or the lease term which in 
the case of the leased photocopier is five years.

Operating leases are those leases that do not fall within 
the scope of the above definition.  Operating lease rentals 
are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into 
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.  
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction 
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

11.2. Deferred finance charge asset related to finance lease 
liability

The deferred finance charge asset is recognised at the inception 
of the finance lease as the difference between the leased asset 
carrying value and the finance lease liability.
The deferred finance charge asset is reduced by finance 
charges over the term of the lease until it is fully utilised.

11.3. The Trust as a Lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as 
receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net investment in the 
leases.  Finance lease or installment sale income is allocated to 
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of 
the leases or installment sale agreements.

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

12. value added tax

The Trust accounts for Value Added Tax on the invoice basis.

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash-on-hand and cash with banks.  Cash 
equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are 
held with registered banking institutions with maturities of 
three months or less and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
change in value.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with 
banks and investments in financial instruments, net of bank 
overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are recorded based on the facility utilised.  
Finance charges on bank overdrafts are expensed as incurred.

14. Related parties

Individuals as well as their close family members, and/or 
entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly 
or indirectly, to control or jointly control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and/or operating decisions. 

Key management personnel is defined as the Chief Executive 
officer, Chief Financial Officer and all other managers reporting 
directly to the Chief Executive Officer or as designated by the 
Chief Executive Officer.

15. events after reporting date 

Events after the reporting date that are classified as adjusting 
events have been accounted for in the Annual Financial 
Statements. The events after the reporting date that are 
classified as non-adjusting events after the reporting date have 
been disclosed in the notes to the Annual Financial Statements.

16. Comparative Information

16.1. Prior year comparatives

When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual 
Financial Statements is amended, prior period comparative 
amounts are reclassified.  The nature and reasons for the 
reclassification are disclosed.

16.2. Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities 
 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. 
Contingencies are disclosed in the notes to the annual financial 
statements.

17. taxation       
    
No provision is made for taxation as the Trust is exempt from 
income tax in terms of section 10 of the Income Tax Act.  
      
18. Irregular, fruitless & wasteful expenditure   
       
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in 
contravention of, or not in accordance with a requirement of 
any applicable legislation. Fruitless & wasteful expenditure 
means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been 
avoided had reasonable care been exercised.  
Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure are 
recognised against the specific class of events to which they 
relate and are disclosed in a note to the financial statements 
when identified.   
       
There were no occurrences of irregular, fruitless & wasteful 
expenditure during the year.  
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19.  Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors 

Changes in accounting policies that are affected by management 
have been applied retrospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 
requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to 
determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect 
of the change in policy. 

In such cases the Trust shall restate the opening balances of 
assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which 
retrospective restatement is practicable. 
Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in 
accordance with GRAP 3 requirements. 

Details of changes in estimates are disclosed in the notes to 
the annual financial statements where applicable.
Correction of Errors is applied retrospectively in the period 
in which the error has occurred in accordance with GRAP 3 
requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to 
determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect 
of the error.  

In such cases the Trust shall restate the opening balances of 
assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which 
retrospective restatement is practicable.  

20. Standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations issued but not yet effective

The following GRAP standards have been issued but not yet 
effective and have not yet been early adopted by the Trust:

>> GRAP 18 - Segment reporting

>> GRAP 20 - Related party disclosures

• GRAP 105 - Transfer of functions between entities 
under common control

• GRAP 106 - Transfer of functions between entities not 
under common control

• GRAP 107 - Mergers

Application of all of the above GRAP standards will become 
effective from a future date to be announced or already 
announced by the Minister of Finance.

The Trust has considered all the above mentioned GRAP 
standards issued but not yet effective and anticipated that the 
adoption of these standards will not have a significant impact 
on the financial position, financial performance or cash flow of 
the Trust.
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21. Property holdings per registration divisions

registration 
Division

2013 hectares Changes in 
property holdings

2012 hectares held as 
investment 

property

held as property

ES 34,564  0 34,564 3,90 34,560

ET 265,901 (6,928) 258,973 274,62 258,698

FS 115,670 0 115,670 284,89 115,385

FT 251,220 (230) 250,990 1405,54 249,584

FU 54,107 0 54,107  895,35 53,212

GS 102,290 0 102,290  86,28 102,204

GT 451,005 (10,322) 440,683   235,31 440,448

GU  651,903 -381  651,522 4488,15 647,034

GV 79,547  0 79,547 9012,74 70,534

HT 25,544 0 25,544  7,44 25,537

HU 335,626  0 335,26  43,32 335,583

HV 475,616 36 475,652 13622,08 462,030

Townships 129 0 129 0 129

total 2,843,122 -17,825 2,825,297 30,359,61 2,794,938

The Board has departed from GRAP 17 in that property has not been valued. The decision not to value its property is based on 
the cost versus benefit factor, however ,as municipal valuation processes unfold ,we will participate and assist in arriving at the 
Municipal valuations which may provide a statutory mandated basis for the value of Ingonyama Trust property.

The impact of this non-disclosure does not adversely affect the user’s opinion on the fairness of the financial statements as Trust 
property is not held for sale in which case property valuation is required to determine the selling price. Included in the total 
extent disclosed 30359.61 hectares are leased and therefore reflected as Investment Property.
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22. Property, Plant and Equipment

r r r r

Cost Phase 1 Cost Phase 2 total Cost accumulated 
depreciation

net Book 
value

Property - office accommodation 
65 Trelawney Road 17,134,233 20,331,055 37,465,288 (1,433,997)

 
36,031,291

At Cost :  Land  - 28 January 2009  1,500,000 -  1,500,000 -  1,500,000

Building at cost and improvements  to Property 15,634,233 20,331,055 35,965,288 (1,433,997) 34,531,291

Buildings - 28 January 2009 1,750,000 - 1,750,000 - 1,750,000

Add : Expenses capitalised - 2010  33,321 -  33,321 -  33,321

Add : Restoration and improvement cost - 2011 11,255,150 - 11,255,150 - 11,255,150

Add : Restoration and improvement cost - 2012  2,595,762 8,674,561 11,270,323 (1,115,384) 10,154,939

Add : Restoration and improvement cost - 2013 - 11,656,494 11,656,494 (318,613) 11,337,881

Contract insurance -  3,920  3,920 - -

Construction costs - 11,644,734 11,644,734 - -

Safety compliance - 7,840 7,840 - -

Park  home offices 599,772 (87,115) 512,657

Computer equipment 869,932 (310,789) 559,143

Furniture and Equipment  2,172,005 (534,196) 1,637,809

motor vehicles 2,716,934 (796,196) 1,920,738

43,823,931 (3,162,293) 40,661,638
                              
                       

Property, Plant and equipment is reconciled as follows: 

Carrying value 
excluding 
opening 

residual value

adjustment 
of residual 

value

Acquisitions Disposals 
during the 

year

Depreciation residual value 
as at 31 march 

2013

Carrying 
value 

31.03.2013

Property - office 
accommodation 65 
Trelawney Road

25,318,779 - 11,656,494 -  (943,982) - 36,031,291

finance leased asset 
(photocopier)

13,215 - - - (13,215) - -

Park home offices 552,644 - - - (39,987) - 512,657

Computer equipment 455,775 - 279,053 (19,354) (156,331) - 559,143

furniture and 
equipment

1,182,996 - 711,303 - (256,490) - 1,637,809

motor vehicles 1,080,161 (566,400) 367,218 (1) (239,832) 1,279,592 1,920,738

28,603,570 (566,400) 13,014,068 (19,355) (1,649,837) 1,279,592 40,661,638
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reconciliation of previous years carrying values

Carrying value 
including residual 
value 31.03.2012

 less residual 
value

Carrying value 
excluding opening 

residual value

Property - office accommodation 65 Trelawney Road 25,318,779 - 25,318,779

Finance leased asset (photocopier) 13,215 - 13,215

Park home offices 552,644 - 552,644

Computer equipment 455,775 - 455,775

Furntiture and equipment 1,182,996 - 1,182,996

Motor vehicles 1,806,761 726,600 1,080,161

29,330,170 726,600  28,603,570
                            
The Board purchased a property for office accommodation more fully described as Sans Souci , Portion 1 of  1772, Registration 
Division, FT, Province of Kwazulu Natal in extent 1.5 hectares, deed of transfer number  T5795/1980. also known as 65 
Trelawney Road , Southgate, Pietermaritzburg, 3201. The Phase 1 building has been depreciated and has been brought into use 
since  June 2011. The phase  2 to building has been depreciated and has been brought into use since 9 November 2012. The 
Board has reviewed the depreciation method, residual values and useful lives of assets as at 31 March 2013.( refer to note 36 
for change in residual values).
                  
23. Intangible assets                   

r
Cost

r
accumulated 
amortisation

r
net book 

value

Computer software 508,058 (308,628) 199,430

Website design  25,000 (20,250) 4,750

533,058 (328,878)  204,180
            
 Intangible assets are reconciled as follows :                  
 

Carrying value
31.03.2012

Acquisitions amortisation Carrying value
31.03.2013

Computer software 321,167 38,004 (159,740) 199,431

Website design  13,082 - (8,333) 4,749

334,249 38,004 (168,073)  204,180
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2013
r

2012
r

The depreciation/amortisation charge is calculated as follows.

Buildings 943,982 490,015

Park home offices 39,987 39,219

Computer equipment 156,331 110,426

Furniture and equipment 256,490 147,446

Motor vehicles 239,832 347,819

Intangible assets - Computer software and website design 168,073 144,290

Finance leased asset 13,215 19,823

1,817,910 1,299,038

Net Depreciation is disclosed as 1,817,910 1,299,038

ITB - Trust fund Income statement (page 51) 1,779,245 1,236,625

Transfer payment funding Income statement (page 52) 38,665 62,413
                   
24.  Deferred finance charge asset                      

Balance : 01.04.2012 9,526 21,035

 less : finance charges transferred to Statement of performance (9,526) (11,509)

- 9,526
 The deferred finance charge asset is in respect of the finance lease liability.Finance charges are 
written - off against this asset over the term of the lease at an interest rate of 12 % p.a 
(2012 - 12 % p.a).                    
     
25. receivables    
              

trade Debtors   3,749,926 4,310,992

Debtors for royalties 138,463 808,575

Leases  - actual (non straight lining lease income debtors) 6,730,941 5,273,275

6,869,404 6,081,850

Less : Provision for  doubtful debts (3,119,478) (1,770,858)

Straight lining lease income debtors 78,000,480 48,228,725

 Other Receivables

South African Revenue Services - vat refund 1,617,886 428,468

Accrued interest 916,562 1,277,046

Rates owing by lessee 523,301 511,339

Electricity Deposit held by Msunduzi Municipality for 65 Trelawney Road 88,000 88,000

Staff telephone account for private usage 859 76

Purchase price of vehicle registered after year end 310,000 -
Refund due from service provider for assets purchased 13,887 55,402

85,220,901 54,900,048
     
The Straight lining lease income debtors is calculated as the difference in income between the 
amount invoiced per the lease agreements and the determination of lease income per the straight 
lining method adopted.        
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2013
r

2012
r

 26.  Cash and cash equivalents  

Current Accounts 2,807,053 4,891,178

Call account / fixed deposits 169,278,156 170,300,335

Petty cash 759 1,740

172,085,968 175,193,253

Cash and Cash equivalents are current in nature as fixed deposits mature within four months. 
The average interest rate during the year was between 5.10 % and 6.00 %. Cash and Cash 
equivalents were not encumbered/secured during the year. Included in the fixed deposits and 
call accounts is an amount of R 143,721,184 available to community beneficiaries, subject to 
them complying with the Board’s disbursement policy. Cash and cash equivalent balances held 
by the Trust are available for use. There are no restricted cash balances as at 31 March 2013.

27.  Non - current finance lease liability                   
                     

Balance : 01 .04.2012  22,878 54,209

Call account / fixed deposits (22,878) (31,331)

Balance : 31.03.2013 - 22,878

Lease payments are allocated between the lease finance cost and the capital repayment using 
the effective interest rate method of  12 % per anum. (2012 - 12 % per anum). Lease finance 
costs are expensed when incurred. The carrying value of the leased asset as at 31 March 2013 
is nil. ( 2012 - R 13,215,00) as the lease term expired in November 2012.

              
28.  Payables                            
                            

Trade creditors   5,129,015 5,811,662

Advance payments by debtors 6,358,544 4,274,460

Advance  proceeds on property/(land) disposal 1,397,214 397,214

Leave pay accrual 364,240 205,560

13,249,013 10,688,896

Advance payment by debtors relate to amounts received  in advance for leases and PTO’s. 
Advance proceeds on land disposal refers to monies received from municipalities for sites sold 
but not yet transferred to the municipalities at year end. Leave pay is calculated at year end.
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2013
r

2012
r

29. Provisions  

Funds to be disbursed to beneficiaries (in terms of Board policy)   143,721,184 131,975,421

Unused provision at beginning of year 131,975,421 131,796,500

Provision utilised for the year (7,572,732) (18,453,197)

124,402,689 113,343,303

Current year’s provision 19,318,495 18,632,118

Provision of  payment of rates to municipalities 30,972,848 18,290,104

Unused provision at beginning of year 18,290,104 12,087,404

18,290,104 12,087,404

Current year’s provision 12,682,744 6,202,700

174,694,032 150,265,525

The disbursement of funds provision is not calculated on the straight lining additional 
lease income of R 29,771,755 -  ( 2012 - R 14,265,729). Time value considerations of 
provisions have been considered, therefore no amounts have been earmarked to be paid 
over the long term, also these are driven by requests on an adhoc basis.

                          
30.  Contingent liabilities                         
                             

30.1. Contingent liability - rates 33,322,318 29,971,579

A dispute had been declared with the eThekwini Municipality. The Constitutional Court 
judgement declared that the Ingonyama Trust is exempt for rates starting May 1996  to 1 
July 2005.This judgement is applicable to rates payable to  all municipalities. The Court 
further found that for the period commencing 2 July 2005 to 2 July 2011, a municipality 
had to comply with relevant requirements in terms of rating legislation and that rates must 
have been levied within the respective financial year and not retrospectively.     
                       
The constitutional court accepted the practical impossibility of the recovery of rates as the 
Trust property was not rated under the ordinance and any attempt to rate such properties 
retrospectively is legally impossible. The Trust is consulting with SALGA, (the municipalities 
representative organisation)  in order to obtain a uniform approach for the determination 
of the rates liability for all municipalities. Should the outcome of that process indeed result 
in rates liability by the Trust,then the Board is confident it  will not exceed this contingency 
provision.

 
                    
        
                 

30.2. Contingent liability - accumulated Surplus  11,439,695  2,021,537

A contingent liability has been provided for accumulated surpluses at year end. 
Accumulated surpluses arise due to the nature of  the Trust’s trading activities after 
provision has been made for funds due to Traditional Communities. 
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2013
r

2012
r

 31. Board members’ gross remuneration   1,556,186 860,806

acting Chairperson 643,341 353,953

Basic 579,950 350,356

Backpay 55,248 -

Company contributions to uif and skills levy 8,143 3,597

members 912,845 506,853

Basic 818,735 497,812

Backpay 79,686 -

Company contributions to uif and skills levy 14,424 9,041

32. Gross remuneration of  senior managers 2,051,882 1,907,610

Chief Executive Officer 807,422 769,874

Basic 495,008 469,805

Housing allowance 65,835 63,236

Cash Allowance 144,170 138,479

Travel allowance 92,169 88,531

Telephone 1,939 1,939

Company contributions to uif and skills levy 8,301 7,884

Chief Financial officer 623,622 577,689

Basic  434,361 399,930

Travel allowance 181,845 167,536

Computer allowance - 3,500

Company contributions to uif and skills levy 7,416 6,723

manager - real estate 620,838 560,047

Basic 613,904 553,575

Company contributions to uif and skills levy 6,934 6,472

33. Contributions to the defined Provident Contribution Plan.    

The total contributions (employer and employee portion) to the defined contribution 
plan for the year amounted to R 570,851,00 (2012 - R 415,882,00).

34. Events after statement of financial position                   
  
The Board is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year, not otherwise dealt with 
in the annual financial statements that will have a significant effect on the operations, the results of the operations or the 
financial position of the Trust except for the royalty income which is now payable to the state in terms of the Mineral and 
Petroleum Resources Royalty Act. The Board has engaged with  National Treasury for royalty income to be paid by the mining 
operators to the Trust.
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2013
r

2012
r

35. related party transactions

A Land Availability Agreement has been granted to Ketshe Investments CC. Mr S.J Ngwenya, 
a Board member, is a shareholder of this company. 

There is no consideration for Land Availability Agreements in terms of the Board’s policy. 

36. Change in accounting estimate - residual value of motor vehicles

The residual value of  motor vehicles has increased by R 566,400  resulting in a change in 
an accounting estimate. Future profits will also increase by R 566,400 as the depreciable 
amount would be decreased thus resulting in lesser depreciation in future years.

 37. lease income and Straight lining of lease income

The Ingonyama Trust Board leases its land on a short and long term basis for residential and 
commercial purposes. The  result from changing lease income to the straight line basis has  
increased the surplus and Trade debtor balances as follows:  

Rental income invoiced as per lease agreements 11,876,924 8,688,908

Rental income as per straight lining method 41,648,679 22,954,637

Increase in net surplus and trade debtor balances for the year 29,771,755 14,265,729

The Trust as lessor enters into cancellable operating land lease agreements over a short and 
long term period. There are no contingent rents recognised as revenue for the year under 
review.

The following future actual operating lease income receivable are noted in aggregate as 
follows:

(i)   not later than one year, 12,027,201 9,268,195

(ii)  later than one year and not later than five years, and 58,307,724 42,980,041

(iii) later than five years, 1,369,448,844 782,935,396

38. Capital and Current Commitments

A capital commitment of R 10,297,824 exists at year end as the Trust has undertaken to 
construct a new office building (phase 2) at 65 Trelawney road. The total contract sum/
value including movable assets  is R 32,091,048. There are no other capital and current 
commitments that require special disclosure.
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2013
r

2012
r

39. Correction of prior period error - lease income (non-mining), royalty income and rates 
owing from lessee

A prior period adjustment has been made to correctly account for lease income as credit notes 
were passed in 2013 for the previous year. Trade debtors including straight lining debtors 
balance and accumulated surplus for 2012 decreased by R 35,649.       
          

An adjustment has been made to correctly account for the amount due by the lessee for rates 
owing to the Trust. The sundry debtor and provision for disbursement of funds decreased by 
R 482,831,00. The accumulated surplus has decreased by R 48,283,00. An adjustment has 
been made to correctly account for the royalty income for 2012 in respect of non-receivable 
royalty income.                     
  
Trade debtors has decreased by R  3,002,510,00 and provision for disbursement of funds has 
decreased by R 2,702,259,00. The accumulated surplus has decreased by R 300,251,00. These 
adjustments have resulted in the fair presentation of  affected income for 2012 and 2013. 

Opening accumulated surplus balance : 01.04.2011 96,816,693

Decrease in rates income from lessee prior to 01.04.2011 (482,831)

Decrease in 90 % provision due to decrease in rates income from lessee prior to 01.04.2011 434,548

Restated surplus for the year 2,021,537

Surplus previously reported 2,286,139

(264,602)

Decrease in 90 % provision to beneficiaries due to decrease in lease income 162,634

Decrease in straight lining income due to reduction in lease income (126,985)

Decrease in royalty income (3,002,510)

Decrease in 90 % provision to beneficiaries due to decrease in lease income 2,702,259

Balance of accumulated surplus : 01.04.2012 98,789,947

40. Reconciliation of budget surplus with surplus in the statement of financial performance

Net surplus per the statement of financial performance 11,439,695 2,021,537

Adjusted for:

less : straight lining lease income not budgeted  (29,771,755) (14,265,729)

Depreciation 1,817,910 1,299,038

Assets written off/loss on disposal 19,355 4,214

Income received in addition to the budget  - transfer payment 3,959 4,662

Budgeted expenditure not spent - transfer payment (43,918) (527,777)

Budgeted income not received  - ITB own funds 34,352,805 15,703,992

Budgeted expenditure not spent - ITB own funds (17,818,051) (4,239,937)

Net surplus per approved budget - -

The Ingonyama Trust Board does not Budget for an operating  surplus or loss.           
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 2013
r

 2012
r

41. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

(A) Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities to surplus

Surplus  11,439,695 2,021,537

Non-cash movements 27,614,393 8,633,340

Depreciation/amortisation 1,817,910 1,299,038

 Loss on Asset disposal 19,355 4,214

Increase in provisions  24,428,507 6,381,621

Increase in provision of doubtful debts 1,348,621 948,467

Decrease in Deferred finance charge asset 9,526 11,509

Decrease in long term Liability (22,878) (31,331)
Increase in payables 2,560,116 5,992,210

Increase in receivables (31,669,474) (13,767,816)

Net cash flows from operating activities 9,931,378 2,859,449

(B) Property,Plant and equipment and intangible assets

During the 2012/2013 year the Trust acquired property,plant and equipment and intangible 
assets at a cost of R 13,118,663 as follows:

own funds own funds

Property - Office accommodation construction costs 11,656,494 11,270,323

Computer equipment 279,053 382,232

Furniture and equipment 711,303 1,120,603

Motor vehicles 433,809 -
Park home offices - 235,908

Intangible assets - computer software/website design 38,004 331,295

13,118,663 13,340,361

(C) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the following 
statement of amounts indicating the financial position : 

Cash on hand and balances with banks 2,807,812 4,892,918

Short-term investments 169,278,156 170,300,335

172,085,968 175,193,253

The entity had no borrowing facillity as at 31 March 2013.              
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2013
r

2012
r

42. Financial Instruments

The Accounting policies regarding financial instruments are disclosed in note 8. Exposure to 
currency, interest rate, credit risk and liquidity risks arise in the normal course of the Trusts’s 
business. The Trust has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
          
Liquidity Risk                  
Rate Risk
Interest 
Credit Risk

The following balances are exposed to Liquidity risk

Finance lease liability - 22,878

Payables and Trade creditors 13,249,013 10,688,896

The following balances are exposed to Credit risk

Consumer / trade debtors 3,749,926 4,310,992

Certain other debts 3,470,495 2,360,331

The following balances are exposed to Interest rate risk

Investments in fixed deposits 169,278,156 170,300,335

Bank Balances and Cash 2,807,812 4,892,918

43. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 545,084 545,084

The Trust made a contribution towards a research on  the history of the Zulu Nation. The Trust 
has not yet received the research results despite several requests to the researcher. The Trust 
has instituted legal action against the researcher to recover the debt. No further payments 
were made in 2013. (2012 - Nil).
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approved 
Budget 
2013

Shift of 
funds

final Budget 
2013

actual 
2013

variance
2013

actual
2012

r r r r r r

Notes

revenue - - - 9,696 9,696 9,696

Leases ( including straight lining income) 11 & 37 23,237,580 - 23,237,580 41,648,679 18,411,099 22,954,637

Net rental revenue 23,237,580 - 23,237,580 41,658,375 18,420,795 22,964,333

Royalty Revenue 8,095,444 - 8,095,444 710,884 (7,384,560) 2,366,953

Interest on Bank and Short term investments 11,515,193 - 11,515,193 8,669,500 (2,845,693) 9,586,514

Servitude - - - 101,750 101,750 -

Interest on debtors overdue accounts 26,000 - 26,000 84,278 58,278 32,336

Rates dues from lesee and tender document fees 1,500 - 1,500 11,962 10,462 17,946

From reserves 8,920,000 13,000,000 21,920,000 - (21,920,000) -

total revenue 51,795,717 13,000,000 64,795,717 51,236,749 (13,558,968) 34,968,082

total expenditure 48,875,717 13,000,000 55,875,717 39,846,961 16,028,756 33,437,248

Advertisements 200,000 - 200,000 132,608 67,392 147,102

Bank Charges 25,152 22,000 47,152 45,044 2,108 27,833

Board members’ remuneration - - - - - 150,000

Cleaning repairs & general expenses 51,803 60,000 111,803 88,079 23,724 333,132

Depreciation/amortisation 23 - - - 1,799,245 (1,799,245) 1,236,625

Loss on disposal of assets - - - 10,050 (10,050) 4,214

Legal fees 1,220,000 200,000 1,420,000 1,333,520 86,480 1,115,750

Maintenance of Land Tenure Information System 500,000 - 500,000 382,059 117,941 255,842

Secretariat Administration fees - - - - - 543,148

Rates and Municipal charges - office accomodation 78,749 - 78,749 - 78,749 370,357

Provision for disbursement of funds to beneficiaries 38,588,146 - 38,588,146 19,318,495 19,269,651 18,632,118

Land Tenure upgrade and formalisation of 
settlements

300,000 (170,000) 130,000 - 130,000 935,400

Land identification and management plan/land 
audits

441,867 (412 000) 29,867 21,950 7,917 1,015,000

Increase in provision for doubtful debts 50,000 - 50,000 1,348,621 (1,298,621) 948,467

Staff training 200,000 - 200,000 148,558 52,442 109,953

Cultural Events 220,000 300,000 520,000 436,352 83,648 1,053,683

Workshops, roadshows and cooperation agreements 700,000 3,000,000 3,700,000 1,976,482 1,723,518 252,293

Rent - Ulundi ITB Office - 15,000 15,000 15,000 - -

Human Resources and Communication Strategy 150,000 (15,000) 135,000 128,154 6,846 103,631

Provision of rates payable to municipalities for ITB 
land

- 10,000,000 10,000,000 12,682,744 (2,682,744) 6,202,700

Reveiw and maintenance of policies 150,000 - 150,000 - 150,000 -

Surplus for the year before capital expenditure 8,920,000 - 8,920,000 11,389,788 2,469,788 1,530,834

Capital 8,920,000 - 8,920,000 13,118,663 (4,198,663)

Total Budget deficit/variance - - - - (1,728,875) -

Note : A part of the capital expenditure incurred in 2012/2013 was committed in 2011/2012.         

Ingonyama trust Board
trust fund Detailed Statement of financial Performance and Budget for the year ended 31 march 2013



annual report 2012 - 13 51

Ingonyama trust Board
Departmental / transfer payment - Detailed Statement of financial Performance and Budget for the year ended 31 march 2013

approved 
baseline
Budget

Shift of 
funds

funding in 
addition to 

baseline

final Budget actual
2013

variance
2013

actual
2012

Notes

revenue

Transfer payments received  7 ,200 ,000 - 11 ,616 ,000 18 ,816,000  18 ,816, 000 -  13, 034 ,000

Investment income  7 ,790 - -  7, 790  11 ,749  3 ,959  4 ,198

total revenue 7,207,790 - 11,616,000 18,823,790 18,827,749 3,959 13,038,198

total expenditure 7,207,790 - 11,566,000 18,773,790 18,777,842 (4,052) 12,547,495

Bank charges 4 ,701 -  7, 299 12 ,000 9 ,299 2 ,701  9 ,048

Finance charges on finance leased asset 7 ,792 1 ,734 - 9 ,526  9 ,526 - 11 ,509

Board members’ remuneration  31 572, 643 557 ,000 427, 357 1 ,557, 000 1 ,556, 186 814 710 ,806

Insurance 300, 000 (83, 000) -  217 ,000 214 ,271 2 ,729 176 ,548

Motor vehicle expenses  23 73, 500 (12 ,000) 46 ,500 108 ,000 106, 513  1 ,487 111, 470

Secretariat administration fees 1 ,395, 299 (148 ,000) 9 ,908 ,928 11 ,156 ,227 11, 155 ,911 316 8 ,313 ,861

Real estate consulting fees 480, 000 (480, 000) - - - -  403, 912

Audit Fees - external 535, 980 19, 000 - 554, 980 554 ,833 147 424 6,00 

- current - - - - 86,468 - 9,262

- previous years - - - - 468,365 - 415,338

Audit Fees internal 165 ,375 (42, 000) 34 ,625 158 ,000 156 ,015 1 ,985 144, 017

Internal Audit Committee members’ 
remuneration 6, 000 5 ,000 4 ,000 15 ,000 10, 302 4 ,698 4 ,697

Computer software/licencing and 
maintenance

100, 000 (8 ,000) 106, 000 198 ,000 194 ,831 3 ,169 52, 041

Depreciation/amortisation 23 - - - - 38 ,665 (38 ,665) 62 ,413

Stationery & other expenses 252 ,000 10 ,266 98, 000 360, 266 359 ,968 298 254 ,824

Travel, accommodation & meeting 
expenses 2 ,000 ,000 324 ,000 52 ,000 2 ,376 ,000 2 ,375, 776  224 1 ,262 ,020

Advertising  -  - 7,000 7,000 300 6,700  22 ,443

Telephone  360, 000 (202, 000)  - 158 ,000 156 ,555 1 445 190 ,203

Security expenses  384 ,000 3 ,000 590 ,000 977, 000 976, 648 352 304, 661

Cleaning,repairs and general expenses 320 ,000 17 ,000 22, 791 359 ,791 359 ,160 631 88 ,422

Electricity and water 240 ,000 50 ,000 260, 000 550, 000 533 ,778 16 ,222 -

Crockery and cutlery 10 ,500 (12 ,000) 1, 500 - - - -

Loss on disposal of assets - - - - 9,305 (9,305) -

Surplus for the year before capital expenditure - - 50,000 50,000 49,907 (93) 490,703

Capital - - 50,000 50,000 22,464 27,536 -

total Budget surplus/variance - - - - - 23,484

Note : This Statement reflects Transfer Payments received and expenditure incurred thereon. The Transfer payment received from the Department is not 
sufficient to defray all operating expenditure of the Trust, therefore the Trust utilised its own income as reflected on page 36 to pay for expenses.



52

2013 2012

r r

revenue notes

Permission to occupy - commercial 9,696 9,696

Leases (including straight lining income)   11 & 37 41 ,648 ,679  22 ,954 ,637

net rental revenue 41, 658, 375 22 ,964 ,333

royalty revenue  710 ,884 2 ,366 ,953

other revenue 18, 929 ,712 13 ,051 946

Transfer payment 18, 816 ,000 13 ,034 ,000 

Rates due from lessee and tender document fees 11 ,962 17 ,946 

Servitude 101 ,750 -

finance Income   8 ,765 ,527  9, 623 ,048

Interest on Bank and Short term investments 8, 681, 249 9, 590 ,712

Interest on debtors overdue accounts  84, 278 32 ,336

total revenue 70 ,064 ,498 48, 006 ,280 

total expenditure 58 ,624 ,803 45, 984, 743

Advertisements          132 ,908 169 ,545

Audit fees           554 ,833 424, 600

current  86, 468 9, 262

 previous year 468 ,365 415, 338

Internal audit committee members’ remuneration 10, 302  4, 697

Bank charges          54 ,343  36, 881

Finance charges on finance leased asset  9, 526 11, 509

Board members’ remuneration 31 1 ,556 ,186 860 ,806 

Cleaning repairs & general expenses 447 ,239 421, 554

Computer software         194 ,831  52 ,041

Depreciation/amortisation 23 1, 817, 910 1, 299, 038

Loss on disposal of assets 19 ,355 4 ,214

Audit fees- internal           156, 015 144 ,017 

Insurance           214, 271 176 ,548

Legal fees          1, 333, 520 1 ,115 ,750

Maintenance of land tenure information system 382, 059 255, 842

Motor vehicle expenses 106 ,513 111 ,470

Stationery and other expenses 359 ,968 254 ,824

Secretariat administration fees 11 ,155 ,911 8 ,857 ,009

Rates and municipal charges - office accomodation 533, 778 370, 357

Provision for disbursement of  funds to beneficiaries 19 ,318, 495 18 ,632 ,118

Land tenure upgrade and formalisation of settlements/land audits    - 935, 400

Land identification and management plan/land audits 21, 950 1 ,015 ,000

Increase in provision for doubtful debts 1 ,348 ,621 948 ,467

Staff  training          148 ,558 109, 953

Travelling,accommodation and meeting expenses 2, 375, 776 1 ,262 ,020

Cultural events 436, 352 1 ,053 ,683

Real estate consulting fees -  403, 912

Telephone           156 ,555 190 ,203

Security expenses          976 ,648 304, 661

Workshops and roadshows 1 ,976 ,482 252 ,293

Human resources and communication strategy 128 ,154 103, 631

Provision of rates payable to municipalities for ITB land 12, 682 ,744 6 ,202, 700

Rent - Ulundi ITB office         15 ,000 -

Surplus for the year          11 ,439, 695 2 ,021 ,537

Ingonyama trust Board
Consolidated Detailed Statement of financial Performance for the year ended  31 march 2013
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